A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Appellant Jeffery Montgomery asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision terminating review designated in Part B of this petition.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Montgomery seeks review of the unpublished opinion filed in *State*v. Montgomery, No. 42958-6-II. See Exhibit 1.

C. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Did the Court of Appeals err in affirming Montgomery's perjury conviction when it was not based upon the testimony of one credible witness and another such witness or corroborating witness?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Jeffery Ray Montgomery was charged with one count of first degree perjury. The State alleged that on March 16, 2010, he made a false statement under oath in an official proceeding. CP 325-26. The prosecution hinged on the question of whether Montgomery lied during a

CrR 3.6 suppression hearing when he testified that he did not enter Robert Barham's house to retrieve a gun.

On January 21, 2009, Robert Barham was arrested by Pierce

County Deputy Sheriffs Jeffery Montgomery and Rex McNicol. The

deputies were called in response to a 911 call from Jesse Anderson, age

12. ER 458. He said that he was afraid of his mother's boyfriend, Robert

Barham, and that there was a gun in the house. A police report, authored

by Montgomery, stated that during the welfare check both officers entered

the Barham house and retrieved a gun.

Kawyne Lund was the Pierce County Deputy Prosecuting Attorney assigned to prosecute Robert Barham for being a felon in possession of a firearm in the first degree. RP 108. Prior to trial, Barham moved to suppress the firearm seized from him at the time of his arrest. RP 108-109. He argued that Deputies McNicol and Montgomery found that gun after entering his home, but that they did not have the right to enter. RP 110. According to Lund, based on her review of the police reports, she thought Barham's motion was "ridiculous" because the deputies had the right to enter under the "community caretaking function." RP 110, 112-114.

The suppression hearing was held on March 16, 2010. RP 116.

Prior to the hearing Lund had a brief, joint meeting with McNicol and

Montgomery. RP 117-118. Lund told the officers that she believed they had a right to be in the house. *Id.* But while Montgomery and McNicol were waiting outside the courtroom, McNicol asked to see the report.

After reviewing the report, McNicol told Montgomery that the report was incorrect – that they had not entered the house to get the gun. Instead, Barham brought it out to them. RP 402.

At the suppression hearing Deputy Montgomery testified that he and Deputy McNicol received a call at about 6:30 p.m. on January 21, 2009 for a "welfare check." Plaintiff's Exhibit 3 at 39. He and McNicol walked up to the front door and Barham answered. *Id.* at 40. He stepped down off the porch with Jesse to ask why he had called the police. *Id.* at 40. Montgomery stated that he was having a hard time recalling the details of the encounter. *Id.* at 42. But prior to arriving at the residence he confirmed that Barham was a convicted felon. *Id.* at 43. Montgomery concluded that Jesse was not at risk. When it came to the gun, Montgomery testified that when he first saw the gun, it was in McNicol's hands. RP 44. He said: "I went up on the porch and took the rifle from Deputy McNicol." *Id.* Later, "after everything was secured, [I] went back in to speak with Jesse's mother, and she kind of walked us through the house to show us where it came from." *Id.* at 45. Montgomery said that he and McNicol had discussed the case.

Mr. Barham's counsel, Chip Mosley, cross-examined Montgomery at length about the discrepancy between his report and his testimony. He testified quite clearly that he made a mistake in his report when he reported that he had gone into the house to get the gun. *Id.* at 54. He stated that what he meant was that he had walked onto the covered porch to get the gun from Barham. *Id.* at 60. He reiterated that he did go into the house later to speak to Barham's girlfriend, Resch. *Id.* at 56.

Prosecutor Lund attempted to clarify and asked Montgomery to look at his report. She asked about the discrepancy between the report, which stated that he had taken the gun from Barham on the porch, and Montgomery's testimony. *Id.* at 46. Montgomery stated that the report was incorrect and a mistake.

According to Lund, it was only after Montgomery testified that she thought the deputies had lied. "At this point I realized that they had changed their testimony, and I was stunned." RP 144.

Nonetheless, she said she did not ask for a recess because "it was improper." RP 144. Moreover, she said: "It was starting to dawn on me that this was no accident. These two had talked about it and I didn't figure there was going to be any difference." *Id.* Lund admitted that she never told defense counsel that she believed the deputies were lying. She also admitted that in her closing argument at the hearing, she said that it didn't

really matter how the deputies got into the house. RP 169. In that hearing she argued as follows: "The Court saw Officer Montgomery. He's a young officer. He admitted he made a mistake. I can pretty well guarantee you that he is going to probably be one of the more careful report writers we're going to have from now on." Exhibit 7; RP 293. She put a memo about the hearing in her file, but that memo did not say that the deputies lied. RP 181.

At the close of the hearing the trial judge suppressed the gun. RP 146. But it was not until May 2010, two months after the hearing, that Lund called the Sheriff's Office and told them that she believed the officers had lied. RP 148.

During the post-hearing investigation, Montgomery gave a statement to the Pierce County Sheriff's Department investigator. Exhibit 14, 15. The investigating officer accused Montgomery of discussing the case in the hall with McNicol and agreeing as to what they were going to say in court. Exhibit at 6. Montgomery said: "I can assure you that is not what it was." *Id.* Montgomery repeated that he believed, based upon Deputy McNicol's statement, that the police report was incorrect. He continued to state that given the discrepancy between what he remembered and what Deputy McNicol remembered, he was not sure what happened. *Id.* at 13. Montgomery said that because McNicol had been the one to

retrieve the gun, and because he trusted McNicol, he believed that his report was incorrect. *Id.* at 14. He stated that "looking back, I should have had him write a supplemental report." But Montgomery said that he had no reason to believe that Deputy McNicol would "lead me astray." *Id.*

Montgomery also testified at trial. He said that his job was to talk to Jesse about his welfare. RP 396. Deputy McNicol contacted Barham. McNicol got the gun, gave it to Montgomery and placed Barham in his patrol car. The two then went into the house to talk to Barham's girlfriend, Resch. Montgomery filed his report and did not look at it again until March 16, 2010, in Ms. Lund's office. RP 401.

Montgomery also said that after the hearing, Ms. Lund never questioned him about the difference between his report and his corrected testimony. RP 405. He stated that he believed the testimony he gave was the truth. *Id*.

McNicol testified that he did not prepare a police report regarding the incident. RP 443. He did not read Montgomery's report until just before the suppression hearing. *Id.* He told Montgomery that the report was wrong and that they were going to be cross-examined about it. RP 445. He said that he thought that as a result, the gun would be suppressed. RP 446. He said he never considered testifying in conformity with the report because that would have been untrue. *Id.* McNicol said he told

Lund about the discrepancy before trial. *Id.* He said that he did not need to "change his story" to save the case because he believed he would have authority to enter the house in any event. RP 447. He categorically denied lying about any of his actions at the Barham residence. RP 446-48.

The only two other witnesses with direct evidence of the incident were State's witnesses Barham and Resch. They gave conflicting testimony.

Barham, a convicted felon, testified that on January 21, 2009, two deputies came to his home. RP 231. He knew that he was not supposed to have a gun. *Id.* He said the deputies told him they were there for a child welfare check. RP 232. One deputy took his son off to the side; the other officer spoke with him. *Id.* According to Barham, he took McNicol to his back bedroom. His girlfriend, Resch, got the gun out of the closet and handed it to Deputy McNicol. *Id.* Barham stated that by the time the gun was out of the closet, Montgomery was in the bedroom. RP 238. Barham said that Montgomery took the clip out of the gun. *Id.* Barham said that he was arrested on the front porch. RP 242. Then he was placed in McNicol's patrol car. *Id.*

Resch, Barham's girlfriend, testified that when she first saw the two deputies they were in the front room. RP 257. She said the deputies asked if there was a gun in the home. When Barham said that there was,

the deputies took him to the front porch and handcuffed him. He was then placed in the police vehicle. *Id.* According to Resch, she pointed out the gun's location. *Id.*

I pointed him to in the closet where the gun was at. I know this because there was a bunch of stuff in the middle of the floor. He had to step over. He reached in and grabbed it, and then he went out and put it in the back of the car.

RP 261. Resch had previously stated that she did not remember if she handed the gun to the deputy or if he reached in and grabbed the gun. RP 269. Resch said that the other deputy remained in the front room with her son the entire time. RP 257.

The State's remaining three witnesses had no direct evidence.

Lund testified to her participation in the suppression hearing and her belated report to the authorities. Chip Mosley testified that he filed a motion arguing that the officers did not have a legal basis to enter the home. RP 279. Lund never asked for a continuance. RP 288. Lund never told Mosey that she suspected that Montgomery was lying. RP 289. Mosley explained that if a lawyer suspects a witness will lie, he or she must not call the witness or rely upon the witness's testimony. RP 297.

Detective Sergeant Ben Benson was called to lay the foundation for the admission of Montgomery's taped statement. He admitted that people were allowed to testify differently and admitted that people were

mistaken at times. RP 346. Benson admits that Montgomery had almost no notes of the incident – just three names written on a piece of paper.

Three character witnesses testified on Montgomery's behalf. RP 367-372.

The jury subsequently convicted Montgomery as charged. CP 372. Judgment and Sentence were entered. CP 373-386. This timely appeal followed. CP 387-403.

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

This Court should grant review because the Court of Appeals decision in this case conflicts with *State v. Olson*, 92 Wn.2d 134, 136, 594 P.2d 1337 (1979); *State v. Wallis*, 50 Wn.2d 350, 311 P.2d 659 (1957); *Nessman v. Sumpter*, 27 Wn. App. 18, 24, 615 P.2d 522, *review denied by State v. Howie*, 94 Wn.2d 1021 (1980). In addition, in this case, the conviction of a police officer for perjury based upon conflicting and suspect testimony is a question of substantial public importance. RAP 13.4(b)(1)(2) and (4).

The Court of Appeals decision conflicts with the multitude of cases from this Court that state the standard of proof in a perjury case is exceedingly strict in order to avoid prosecutions that descend into

swearing contests. But here, the Court of Appeals condoned precisely the type of swearing contest that the law seeks to avoid.

- 1. The testimony of at least one credible witness which is positive and directly contradictory of the defendant's oath; and
- 2. Another such direct witness or independent evidence of corroborating circumstances of such a character as clearly to turn the scale and overcome the oath of the defendant and the legal presumption of his innocence.

Olson, 92 Wn.2d at 136.

The Court of Appeals concedes that the testimony of Barham and the testimony of Resch was inconsistent. But the Court excuses that by stating that their testimony was the same on "material facts." But by excusing the very real inconsistencies in their testimony, the Court of Appeals lowers the State's burden of proof. The testimony of both Barham and Resch had to be "positive" and "of such character as to clearly turn the scale and overcome" Montgomery's oath. That level of proof was not met. In *Wallis* this Court said:

Contradictory statements, sworn or unsworn, are not direct evidence of the falsity of the testimony which the law requires. Indeed, it may be said that while such evidence creates a strong probability of the appellant's guilt, or even proof beyond a reasonable doubt, the law still requires direct and independent evidence of the falsity of the testimony in addition. It is impossible to say whether the affidavit and the contradictory statements are true or whether the testimony is true.

Wallis, 50 Wn.2d at 354-55.

Worse yet, the Court of Appeals relied on Deputy Montgomery's police report admitted as Exhibit 1. But nothing in that exhibit was admitted as substantive evidence. Counsel objected to the admission of the police report because it was hearsay. RP 122. The State said that the report "is not being offered for the truth of the matter asserted." *Id.* The State also said that the report was a business record and a statement by a party opponent. Defense counsel argued that only portions of the exhibit would be admissible as "statements of a party opponent." RP 123. Nonetheless, the Court admitted the document.

Careful analysis reveals that the only basis on which the police report was admitted was that it could not be relied on for the truth of the matters asserted therein. That is, because neither of the other reasons cited by the State would have permitted its introduction as substantive evidence. A police officer's investigative summary is inadmissible hearsay that does not qualify for admission under the business records exception to the hearsay rule. *In re Det. of Coe*, 160 Wn. App. 809, 829, 250 P.3d 1056, 1066, *review granted*, 172 Wn.2d 1001, 258 P.3d 685 (2011), *affirmed on other grounds*, 175 Wn.2d 482, 286 P.3d 29 (2012); *State v. Hines*, 87 Wn. App. 98, 101-02, 941 P.2d 9, 11 (1997).

Even if, at some level, the police report was a "statement" by Montgomery, although he has consistently disavowed its accuracy, in the

absence of an applicable exception to the hearsay rule, the portions of the police report that contain the statements of others may not be admitted into evidence. See, e.g., United States v. Boyd, 640 F.3d 657, 662, 664-65 (6th Cir.), cert. denied, 132 S.Ct. 271, 181 L.Ed.2d 160 (2011) (each level of hearsay must be independently admissible even where "top" level is plainly the statement of a party opponent); United States v. \$92,203.00, 537 F.3d 504, 508 (5th Cir. 2008) (where law enforcement officer told agent about defendant's statements, and agent took the stand, agent's testimony about what law enforcement officer said was inadmissible hearsay even though defendant's statements to law enforcement officer were admissions of party-opponent); Vazquez v. Lopez-Rosario, 134 F.3d 28, 34 (1st Cir. 1998) (For hearsay-within-hearsay to be admissible, "[e]ach link in the chain must be admissible, either because it is an admission and thus not hearsay or under some other hearsay exception.").

Because the trial court did not redact those portions of the police report that were not statements made by Montgomery, it clearly did not admit the report on the basis that it was a statement of a party opponent.

Thus, it was admitted on the basis that nothing in the report was submitted for its truth. If the evidence was not submitted as true, then it cannot corroborate any other facts.

F. CONCLUSION

This Court should grant review. There is no credible corroborated evidence that Montgomery knowingly testified falsely when he said that he and McNicol did not enter the house. Deputy Montgomery had no intention of knowingly lying to anyone. After Deputy McNicol told him the report was incorrect, he believed that it was. After all, Deputy McNicol was the officer who actually obtained the gun and was in a better position to recall what happened. When corrected, Deputy Montgomery testified to the corrected facts. That simply cannot constitute perjury under the law.