RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON Jan 03, 2014, 9:46 am BY RONALD R. CARPENTER CLERK

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

NO. 89485-0

### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Plaintiff/Appellee,

v.

JEFFREY RAY MONTGOMERY and REX ALAN McNICHOL, Defendants/Appellants.

## STATE OF WASHINGTON'S ANSWER TO PETITIONS FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

MELANIE TRATNIK Assistant Attorney General WSBA# 22576 800 5th Avenue, Suite 2000 Seattle, WA 98104-3188 (206) 389-2005 OID # 91093



###

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

#### IV. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

## A. The Evidence Required To Establish The Perjury Was Consistent With State And Federal Case Law

Appellants claim that under *State v. Wallis*, a person cannot be convicted of perjury if there is any inconsistency between the testimonies of two State witnesses. *State v. Wallis*, 50 Wn.2d 350, 311 P.2d 659 (1957). Appellants misread *Wallis*. In *Wallis*, DiLuzio was charged with selling liquor to a minor. *Id.* at 350. After Diluzio was arrested, Defendant signed an affidavit documenting his purported knowledge of Diluzio's actions. *Id.* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Asked if he knew during the suppression hearing that his testimony was inaccurate, Montgomery replied: "[t]he bottom line, yeah, cause here I had the report, and that's, I wrote it, and that's what I recall happening." "And you testified to something different?" "Yes." Ex. 15 at 7.

at 352. Defendant was convicted of perjury after disavowing the statements he made in the affidavit at Diluzio's trial. *Id.* at 350.

On appeal, the State conceded there was no "direct or independent evidence" to prove which of Defendant's two statements were false. Admittedly unable to meet the perjury requirement of either two credible witnesses whose testimony is positive and directly contradictory of the defendant's oath or one such witness plus independent evidence of corroborating circumstances, the State urged the Court to abandon this rule. *Id.* at 353-355. The Court refused, and overturned Defendant's conviction because the only evidence against him was his own two contradictory statements. *Id.* at 354-356.

Appellants cite to a statement in *Wallis* that "contradictory statements, sworn or unsworn, are not direct evidence of the falsity of the testimony which the law requires" and claim that two witnesses with direct testimony contrary to Defendant's oath cannot establish perjury if there are any inconsistencies between the witness' accounts. Montgomery Pet. at 10; McNicol Pet. at 12. On this basis, Appellants argue that the Court of Appeals' opinion that Barham's and Resch's testimony provided sufficient evidence for a conviction conflicts with *Wallis* because their testimony was not identical. This argument misconstrues *Wallis*. *Wallis* simply holds that a defendant's self-contradictory statements alone cannot sustain a perjury conviction.

## B. The Request For Review Of The Factual Findings Does Not Present An Issue Of Public Importance

Barham testified that Appellants came to his home and told him they knew he was a felon and that he had a gun in the home. RP 231-232. Barham testified that he told the deputies this was true, and when he went to the back bedroom to get the gun McNicol went with him. RP 233-234. After Barham called for Resch, she and Montgomery met McNicol and Barham in the bedroom. When Resch tried to retrieve the gun from the closet McNicol took it from her. RP 234, 238.

Resch testified that Barham called her to the front room and when she arrived two deputies were there. RP 256. The deputies asked if there was a gun in the home, and Barham and Resch told them there was one in the back closet. RP 256-57. Resch testified that one deputy handcuffed Barham and took him outside while the other deputy followed her to the bedroom. RP 257. She pointed the gun out to the deputy and he either grabbed it or she handed it to him. RP 257; 269.

The Court of Appeals properly found that Barham's and Resch's testimony supported the perjury convictions because "[t]hough the details of these two eyewitness accounts differ, the material facts are consistent – they both testified that the deputies entered the home to seize Barham's firearm." State v. Montgomery, No. 42938-1-II, slip op. at 7 (Wash. Ct. App. October 8, 2013).

Appellants ignore well-established case law requiring reviewing courts to defer to a jury's determination of witness credibility. "[C]redibility determinations are for the trier of fact and cannot be reviewed on appeal." State v. Camarillo, 115 Wn.2d 60, 71, 794 P.2d 850 (1990), citing State v. Casbeer, 48 Wn. App. 539, 740 P.2d 335 (1987).

Minor differences between people recounting an event is common and therefore not a basis upon which to reject testimony. In denying a motion to dismiss made at the conclusion of the State's case, the trial judge found that Barham's and Resch's testimonies were consistent regarding the material issue of whether the officers entered the home. RP 384. The trial judge noted that consistent testimonies are more suspect than those involving minor discrepancies. The Court of Appeals properly rejected Appellants' attempt to discredit Barham's and Resch's testimonies based on minor and inconsequential differences.

## 1. The trial court correctly found that the police report provided evidence of perjury

Appellants also challenge the Court of Appeals' determination that Montgomery's police report provided corroborating evidence to support a finding of guilt. *Slip op. at 7*. Appellants contend the report is not evidence because it was not admitted as "substantive evidence." This argument is

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> "It's often said that if it was an exact mirror image of each other's testimony, you'd actually have more concern than if they [sic] were discrepancies, but I agree with the State. In regards to the issue of whether they entered that house, both of them were very consistent in regards to the fact that the officers did not stay out on the porch and that they, in fact, entered the home." RP 384.

without merit because the evidentiary value of the report does not hinge on which evidence rule it was admitted under. The evidentiary value of the report is that it shows what Montgomery wrote about the event just hours after it occurred.<sup>6</sup> Montgomery's argument that portions of the report containing statements of others should have been redacted is unpersuasive as those statements are irrelevant as to the issue of whether Appellants committed perjury. This Court should deny review.

# 2. Sufficient evidence was presented at trial to affirm the jury's verdict that Montgomery committed perjury.

A defendant's admissions or contradictory statements are sufficient to corroborate the testimony of a single witness, and together support a conviction for perjury. *State v. Buchanan*, 79 Wn.2d 740, 489 P.2d 744 (1971). For Montgomery, such evidence exists, both in the form of his admission and in the form of his contradictory statements.

Montgomery made numerous contradictory statements. He first testified at the suppression hearing that he remembered Barham bringing the gun out of the home. Ex. 3 at 46-47, 76, 79, 80, 81, 82, 103. He later told Benson he did not remember how the gun was retrieved, and that he was just basing his testimony on what McNicol had told him had occurred.<sup>7</sup> Ex. 14 at 3, 4, 14. He eventually admitted that his report was correct when it said he

<sup>7</sup> If this statement to Benson were true then Montgomery's suppression hearing testimony claiming he remembered the events when in fact he did not constitute perjury.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> McNicol's attempts to distance himself from the police report are unconvincing given that both he and Montgomery admitted to discussing the call prior to or during Montgomery's writing of the report. RP 326; Ex. 3 at 46.

and McNicol entered the home to retrieve a gun and that he lied about that during the hearing. Ex. 15 at 7.

Under *Buchanan*, Montgomery's admission or his contradictory statements plus the testimony of either Barham or Resch provide sufficient evidence to sustain his conviction. Additionally, Montgomery's police report written immediately after Barham's arrest which explicitly contradicted his testimony fourteen months later also provides independent and corroborating evidence that he committed perjury. The Court of Appeals correctly found that sufficient evidence supports the jury's finding that Montgomery committed perjury. This Court should deny review.

# 3. Sufficient evidence was presented at trial to affirm the jury's verdict that McNicol committed perjury.

McNicol's trial testimony was so incredible the jury had ample grounds to conclude that his claim that he allowed a convicted felon to retrieve a gun while he waited outside was a lie. McNicol admitted that during the fourteen months between his visit to the Barham residence and his testimony at the suppression hearing he responded to hundreds of calls. RP 455-56. McNicol maintained that despite this time passage and the hundreds of intervening calls he remembered allowing Barham to retrieve the gun while he waited outside. RP 455, 464-65.

The distance from the front door of Barham's home to the bedroom where the gun was located is approximately fifty feet. RP 237. Due to the

configuration of Barham's residence a person standing on the porch of the home, even if leaning in, cannot see the bedroom where the firearm was located. RP 315-17, 237-38. Prior to arriving at the Barham home McNicol knew that meth was possibly being used, that there was a firearm there and that Barham was a convicted felon. RP 458. McNicol further admitted on cross examination that he has encountered meth users before and they can act unpredictably, erratically and violently, and that meth plus guns can easily turn into a deadly situation. RP 465-66.

Detective Benson, a twenty-seven year veteran of the Pierce County Sheriff's Department, testified extensively about the officer safety training all deputies receive. RP 304. He explained that based on that training it would never be acceptable to let a convicted felon enter a home to retrieve a gun on his own. RP 317-19. The Court of Appeals noted that Benson's recorded interview of Montgomery, which was played for the jury and in which Montgomery admitted to lying during the suppression hearing, provided evidence that both Appellants committed perjury. In that interview, Montgomery said that in his experience McNicol would have never allowed Barham to retrieve the gun on his own, and that in the two years the deputies have worked together he had never seen McNicol do anything like that. Ex. 14 at 6, 11. McNicol had about thirty-years of law enforcement experience.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Montgomery told Benson "I can't imagine he would have let him go get the gun by himself," and explained that "to even think about that is, is ridiculous, that that's what happened." Ex. 14 at 13; Ex. 15 at 7.

RP 442, 464-65. McNicol's claim that he allowed Barham to retrieve the gun on his own is unbelievable on its face and wholly discredited by Benson's testimony, Montgomery's statements, and by the surrounding circumstances. RP 468.

McNicol also had a substantial motive to lie at the suppression hearing, because notwithstanding the prosecutor's belief that the entry into the home was lawful McNicol thought it was not. Indeed, even after the prosecutor's assurances McNicol testified at the suppression hearing that he did not believe the deputies had the right to enter the home to retrieve the gun. Ex. 2 at 23. He subsequently told Benson the same thing. RP 327. McNicol's belief demonstrates a strong motive to lie.

McNicol's testimony at trial further exposed him as a man willing to tailor his testimony to address unfavorable circumstances. For example, McNicol told Benson on June 8, 2010 that he reviewed the police report in the car while he and Montgomery drove to the courthouse together for the suppression hearing, and then told Montgomery the report was wrong. RP 327. McNicol was present at trial when Montgomery's June 8, 2010 recorded interview was played for the jury. During that interview Montgomery told Benson the he and McNicol never discussed the case in the car, and that it wasn't until they were sitting outside the courtroom with no one else present that McNicol asked to see the report and then told

Montgomery it was wrong. Ex. 14 at 4, 16; Ex. 15 at 4. Montgomery confirmed this when he testified at trial. RP 402.

After hearing this, McNicol testified at trial that although he told Benson he read the report in the car he now suddenly remembered he did not read it until he was in the hallway waiting for the suppression hearing to begin. RP 443-44. On cross, McNicol was confronted with the fact that he was now claiming that his recollection of the events of March 16, 2010 were better eighteen months after the event in question than they were when he talked with Benson two months after the event. RP 453-55. At that point McNicol hedged and said he was not sure when he told Montgomery the report was wrong. RP 455.

The discrepancy as to when McNicol realized the report was wrong is significant, because McNicol claimed he told the prosecutor the report was wrong when he learned that the defense was challenging the deputies' right to enter the Barham home. This could have occurred only if McNicol read the report prior to meeting with the prosecutor. Prosecutor Lund testified she did not know that McNicol and Montgomery were going to say that they did not enter the home until she heard them testify. Although Montgomery and McNicol were together at all times - in the car, in the prosecutor's office and in the hallway prior to the suppression motion - Montgomery never alleged that he or McNicol advised the prosecutor the report was wrong. In fact, according to Montgomery, McNicol did not look at the police report or tell

him it was wrong until the two men were alone outside the courtroom just prior to testifying. Ex. 14 at 4, 16; Ex. 15 at 4. McNicol's attempt to alter his recollection to support a false claim that he told the prosecutor the report was wrong served only to highlight his willingness to alter his testimony.

# 4. Any rational trier of fact could have found sufficient evidence to support a perjury conviction

The Court of Appeals properly found "because the State's direct and corroborating evidence all demonstrated the material issue – that the deputies entered Barham's home, contrary to their suppression hearing testimony – it satisfied both parts of the heightened sufficiency standard in perjury proceedings." *Slip op. at 8*.

A person is guilty of perjury in the first degree if in any official proceeding, he makes a materially false statement under oath which he knows to be false. RCW 9A.72.020(1). To prove perjury, the State must present (1) the positive testimony of at least one credible witness which is directly contradictory of the defendant's oath and (2) another direct witness or independent corroborating evidence of the circumstances that overcomes the defendant's oath and legal presumption of innocence. *State v. Olson*, 92 Wn.2d 134, 136, 594 P.2d 1337 (1979).

The direct testimony required to support a perjury conviction "must come 'from someone in a position to know of his or her own experience that the facts sworn to by the defendant are false." *State v. Singh*, 167 Wn. App.

971, 976, 275 P.3d 1156 (2012)(quoting *Nessman v. Sumpter*, 27 Wn. App. 18, 24, 615 P.2d 522 (1980)). The corroborating evidence "need not equal in weight the testimony of a second witness," but it "must be clear and positive and so strong that, with the evidence of the witness who testifies directly to the falsity of the defendant's testimony, it will convince the jury beyond a reasonable doubt." *State v. Rutledge*, 37 Wash. 523, 527, 79 P. 1123 (1905).

The requirements regarding the form evidence in a perjury case must take do not alter the standard of proof which applies to all criminal charges. Nor do these requirements supersede case law requiring reviewing courts to accept the jury's determination of credibility. *E.g. State v. Camarillo*, 115 Wn.2d 60, 71, 794 P.2d 850 (1990); *State v. Walton*, 64 Wn. App. 410, 415-16, 824 P.2d 533 (1992).

When the sufficiency of the evidence is challenged, a reviewing court must decide whether, viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, any rational trier of fact could have found all of the required elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. *State v. Green*, 94 Wn.2d 216, 221, 616 P.2d 628 (1980). A challenge to the sufficiency of evidence "admits the truth of the State's evidence and all inferences that can reasonably be drawn from it." *State v. McNeal*, 145 Wn.2d 352, 360, 37 P.3d 280 (2002). Viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, with all reasonable inferences drawn in favor of the State and interpreted most

strongly against the defendants, a rational trier of fact could have found that Appellants committed perjury in the first degree.

# 5. Appellants' status as sheriff's deputies does not create a matter of public interest meriting review

Appellants argue review is warranted because convicting officers of perjury threatens to deter police candor. But as the United States Supreme Court has explained, the status of the defendant does not impact liability for perjury. "A police officer on the witness stand performs the same functions as any other witness; he is subject to compulsory process, takes an oath, responds to questions on direct examination and cross-examination, and may be prosecuted subsequently for perjury." *Briscoe v. LaHue*, 460 U.S. 325, 342, 103 S. Ct. 1108, 75 L. Ed. 2d 96 (1983). The threat of perjury ensures the witness' reliability. *Bruce v. Byrne-Stevens & Associates Eng'rs, Inc.*, 113 Wn.2d 123, 126, 776 P.2d 666 (1989). The public interest strongly supports application of perjury laws to police officers. When an officer is dishonest on the stand, it has tremendous potential to negatively impact the constitutional rights of the defendant.

## C. Denial of Admission Of Barham's Stale Conviction Was Proper And Does Not Raise A Constitutional Issue For Review

The trial court denied a pretrial motion to admit Barham's 2001 conviction for attempted possession of stolen property. Because the conviction was over 10 years old, it was inadmissible under Evidence Rule

609(b)<sup>9</sup> unless "the probative value of the conviction supported by specific facts and circumstances substantially outweighs its prejudicial effect." RP 92. The trial court denied admission of the attempted conviction because it was over ten years old and Barham's credibility could be impeached with the 2003 felony drug conviction that was the basis of his Unlawful Possession of a Firearm arrest.

McNicol seeks review of the Court of Appeals' conclusion that even if the trial court had erred in denying McNicol's motion to admit Barham's stale conviction, it was harmless. The Court of Appeals properly applied a harmless error analysis. *Slip op. at 9.* Alleged errors under ER 609 are reviewed under a harmless error standard. *See State v. Brown*, 113 Wn.2d 520, 554, 782 P.2d 1013 (1989). An erroneous ER 609 ruling does not constitute reversible error unless, "had the error not occurred, the outcome of the trial could have been materially affected." *State v. Calegar*, 133 Wn.2d 718, 727, 947 P.2d 235 (1997). In this case, the impeachment value of Barham's aged conviction was inconsequential and there was substantial evidence upon which to convict him.

The ability to use more relevant impeachment evidence may justify limiting cross examination. *State v. Barnes*, 54 Wn. App. 536, 541, 774 P.2d 547 (1989). Impeachment evidence admitted against Barham included a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Under ER 609(b), a conviction is not admissible if over 10 years have elapsed since the conviction or release from confinement imposed for the conviction, unless the court determines "that the probative value of the conviction supported by specific facts and circumstances substantially outweighs its prejudicial effect."

felony drug conviction, felonious possession of a firearm, alleged chronic meth use, and a possible prior meth lab in his home. The stale gross misdemeanor conviction would not have provided significant additional impact beyond the evidence the jury received. There was no reasonable probability that admitting the stale conviction would have materially affected the trial outcome. As such, any error was harmless.

Contrary to McNicol's contention, this does not present a constitutional question. Exclusion of a witness' conviction under ER 609(b) does not curtail the Sixth Amendment right to confrontation. State v. Martinez, 38 Wn. App. 421, 422-25, 685 P.2d 650 (1984). Crimes of dishonesty which are over ten years old are presumed irrelevant. U.S. v. Bensimon, 172 F.3d 1121, 1126 (9th Cir. 1999). Such convictions are inadmissible absent an extraordinary showing because "the Sixth Amendment does not entitle a defendant to present irrelevant evidence." State v. Hudlow, 99 Wn.2d 1, 15, 659 P.2d 514 (1983).

### V. CONCLUSION

The State asks that the Court deny the petitions for review.